017

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 74,419

FL BAR NO: 126509

WILLIAM deFOREST THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

vs.

TOBITHA THOMPSON,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 21 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

# AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

ESLER & KIRSCHBAUM, P.A.
315 S.E. 7th Street, Suite 300
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301-3178
and
EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.
Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Tel: (407) 686-8010
Attorneys for Petitioner

###

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties separated in May 1983 and were divorced almost four years later in April, 1987. During the parties' four year separation, the Husband voluntarily paid the Wife \$6,000 a month, plus he paid other expenses on her behalf, which the Wife claimed totaled an additional \$3,000 a month, for a total of \$9,000 a month (R93-94,115,129-30,650-51). The Husband paid all the parties' income taxes for those years. Thus, during the parties' four years of separation, the Wife received at least \$432,000 in tax-free support.

In November, 1985, the Wife filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage (R436-41). The final hearing was not held until one and a half years later, in April, 1987, at which time a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage was entered (R1-435,779-81). The Husband was ordered to pay child support of \$700 per month for the parties' 17 year old daughter, and permanent alimony of \$11,000 per month. The Wife was awarded the marital home and all of its furnishings, a 1984 Jaguar free and clear, and the

Husband's interest in the following assets: Georgia vacation home and furniture, the boat located at the Georgia vacation home, the Charleston Place townhouse in Boca Raton, the Capital Realty Investors and SLM Entertainment Ltd. Investments, and the balance of the bank account and certificate of deposit with Sun Bank. The Wife was ordered to assume responsibility for the mortgage on the Charleston Place townhouse. The Husband was also ordered to pay lump sum alimony of \$250,000 to the Wife in annual installments of \$25,000. The Husband was further required to pay attorney's fees of \$30,000 and costs of \$15,500.62 within sixty days.

The Husband was left with his law practice, a \$131,000 interest in his pension and profit sharing plan (present value), tax shelters worth \$65,000; and the Fort Lauderdale townhouse he was living in, which had an equity of \$49,000. The split of the marital assets, including the lump sum award, gave net assets of \$643,450 to the Wife and \$239,695 to the Husband, according to the Wife's figures.

The Husband appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal contending that the distribution to the Wife was grossly excessive and could only have been achieved by considering goodwill in his sole practitioner law practice, which was improper; that even if goodwill should be considered, the Wife's methods of valuation were improper; that the \$11,000 a month permanent periodic alimony award was excessive and that the Wife should not have been awarded \$45,000 in attorney's fees and costs in light of the other awards.

The Fourth District affirmed the Final Judgment of Dissolution, and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

IN MARRIAGE DISSOLUTION PROCEEDINGS TO WHICH AN OWNER OF A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION IS A PARTY, MAY THE VALUE OF THE PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION'S GOODWILL BE FACTORED IN IN DETERMINING THE PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION'S VALUE?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married in 1962 and separated initially in June, 1982 and several times thereafter, the last time being May, 1983 (R77). The Wife, who was 47 years of age, was a housewife and mother. The Husband was a 44 year old attorney specializing in plaintiff's personal injury and medical malpractice cases (R88-9). The parties have two children, Bill, Jr., who was 24 years old and a senior in law school, and Caroline, who was 17 years of age and a senior in a private school.

The parties met at the University of Virginia in 1960 where they were both students (R220). The Wife graduated in 1960 and then continued on to obtain her Master's degree (R221). The Husband, who was three years younger, was still in undergraduate school. The parties married in 1962 (R220-1). The Wife taught school during the Husband's last year of undergraduate school and during his three years of law school, for a total of four years (R78, 86, 222, 538). The Husband was on partial athletic scholarship in undergraduate school (R222), and worked during the

summers while going through law school (R78). The Husband's parents paid his tuition (R87).

After graduating from law school in 1967, the Husband spent four years in the army in the Judge Advocate's General Corps (R87-8). As soon as the Husband graduated from law school the Wife ceased working and did not work while the Husband was in the service from 1967 to 1971 (R223).

The parties moved to Fort Lauderdale in 1971 and the Husband went into private practice with a defense firm (R87-8). He remained with that firm for four years or until 1976. The Husband then went with a small plaintiff's firm for several years. He left that firm and opened his own office in 1978 (R88-9, 230). Since that time, the Husband has specialized in personal injury and medical malpractice (R88-9). 65% to 75% of his practice is medical malpractice cases (R231). At the time of the Final Hearing, the Husband testified that he was concerned about the future of his practice in light of the medical malpractice and tort reform movement in Florida (R248).

In 1976 the parties had purchased a lot in the Boca Bath and Tennis Club for \$46,000 and subsequently built a home there for \$150,000, which they moved into in 1979 (R97, 560,2241).

The Husband testified that their marital problems began in 1980 (R78, 225). According to him the parties had stopped any meaningful communication and sharing (R77, 524). Their relationship became very difficult, actually unbearable, and there was a lot of animosity and acrimony (R77). Finally, the Husband just gave up (R77). The parties first separated in 1982

and did so twice before finally separating in May, 1983 (R77, 225).

The Wife claimed that their marriage broke up because of the Husband's affair with one of their neighbors (R85). While the affair did take place, it occurred primarily after the parties had separated, and ceased two years prior to the final dissolution hearing (R374).

When the parties separated, the Husband borrowed \$50,000 from his pension and profit sharing plan as a down payment on a townhouse apartment in Fort Lauderdale which he purchased to live in (R252). At the time of trial he was still living there and was still driving his seven year old Mercedes Benz (R343).

The Husband was generous with the Wife and children (R112,114-15), almost to a fault and clearly to his detriment in retrospect. From the time of the parties' 1983 separation until the final hearing (four years), the parties agreed that the Husband gave the Wife \$6,000 a month. The Wife claimed he paid additional expenses which the Wife's financial affidavit indicate were \$3,000 a month, for a total of \$9,000 a month, tax free (R93). During this period the Husband also bought a sports car for the parties' daughter on her 16th birthday (R95) and bought the Wife a new 1984 Jaguar (R659), while he continued to drive his seven year old car. The Husband had also fully supported the parties' two children during this four year separation. Bill Jr. was not only supported by his father, but his out-of-state undergraduate and law school education were paid for by him (R107, 597). The daughter's schooling was paid for by the

Husband and it was anticipated that she would attend college (R241), the expenses of which the Husband had also agreed to pay (R241).

By the end of 1986, the Husband was required to borrow \$125,000 from his P.A. to pay his and his Wife's income taxes for that year (R238-9).

#### ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Wife offered the testimony of her expert CPA, Mary Van Lennep Plum, as to valuation, and the testimony of an alleged expert in valuing law firms, Weston Darbey. The Husband presented his own testimony; that of Whitfield Pressinger, the vice president of Dean Witter Reynolds; and the Husband's expert CPA, Ted Penella. The parties' and their experts disputed the value of the parties' assets, which were testified as having the following net values by the witnesses:

ASSETS	WIFE'S VALUATION	<b>HUSBAND'S VALUATION</b>
Dogley		
Realty Marital home	\$192,000 (R661)	\$315,000 <sup>1</sup>
Furniture	6,200 (R661)	6,200
Georgia home	119,932 (net)(R661)	119,932
Furniture	200 (R661)	(No evidence)
Charleston townhouse	-0-	-0-
Ft. Laud. townhouse	49,500 (net) (R502)	49,500 (net)
Furniture	19,900 (R661)	2,000 (R457)
office condo	22,541 (R661)	9,800 (R479)
Cars		
Wife's Jaguar	22,800 (R50)	(No evidence)
Husband's Mercedes	35,000	35,000 (R582)
Wife's jewelry	5,000 (R661)	9,300 (R373)
Tax Shelters Ltd. P.A.		
Capital Realty	(No opinion R25-6) $_3^2$ (No opinion R25-6) $_4^2$ (No opinion R25-6)	8,250 (R189)
SLM Entertainment	(No opinion R25-6).	3,000 (R190)
Clinton St Ltd.	(No opinion R25-6) <sup>4</sup>	(-11,000) (R184)
B & D (Duplex	0 (DCEO)	(-3,333) (R295-6)
NPI Plant Research	(No opinion R25-6) (No opinion R25-6)	20,000 (R188)
Equus Investments	(No opinion $R25-6$ )	45,000 (R186-7)
TLC 200 Partnership	(NO Opimon 1020 O)	-0- (R296)
Visions Four Inc.	(No opinion $R25-6$ )	-0- (R296)
Avalon	(No opinion R25-6) <sup>9</sup>	-0- (R291)

(chart continued on next page)

"The partnership and the sub S corporations, those all are valued at cost. And I did that because I do not know what a fair market value for those partnerships would be. It would be my opinion that some of them may be higher than cost, some of them are probably less than cost, but I would not know what the values would actually be on those partnerships."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/average of \$265,000 to \$364,000 (R504).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/Although in the list of assets and liabilities prepared by the Wife's expert CPA, Mary Van Lennep Plum, she listed values for the Husband's "Partnership and Sub Corps" (R661), in her testimony she admitted that she had no idea of the value of those assets (R25-26):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/See footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>/See footnote 2.

ASSETS	WIFE'S VALUATION	HUSBAND'S VALUATION
Retirement		10
Hus. Pension/PS	192,167 (R668)	$131,600^{10}$
Husband's IRA	4,335 (R661)	4,335
Husband's P.A.	910,281 to	100,000 book
	1,063,000 (R698,666-7)	value (R479)
	[\$193,059 was book valu	ıe]
Wife's cash	2,000 (R128)	(No evidence)
Husband's cash	40,873	1,000 (R384-5)
Sun Bank Account	21,682 (R661)	22,780 (R504)
Sun Bank CD	10,000 (R661)	10,000
P.A. loan receivable	48,820	48,820
Husband's Other Liabilities Which Reduce His Award:		
Husband's loan from	his P.A.	(-\$125,000) (R344)

#### THE HUSBAND'S P.A.

The Husband, a plaintiff's lawyer, was the sole shareholder in his P.A. Another attorney worked for him as an independent contractor and was paid a set weekly salary (R245,247,316-17). At the time of the final hearing, the Husband was about to enter into a partnership with that attorney, but no partnership documents had been drafted or executed as vet (R245,247,316-17,364).

In 1986, the Husband had purchased 5,500 square feet of office space to house his PA in a new building in Fort Lauderdale

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>/See footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>/See footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>/See footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>/See footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>/See footnote 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>/\$238,000 minus \$50,000 loan, penalties and tax consequences (R252).

for \$647,000, and he made \$400,000 in improvements (R255). The purchase price and improvements were entirely financed by the developer (R255). The Husband owned the office space and rented it to his P.A. for the amount of his mortgage payment which was \$13,650 a month (R32, 695,256).

According to the Husband's CPA, the book value of the Husband's PA was \$100,000 (R479). According to the Wife's CPA, the book value was \$193,059 (R666). However, the Wife's CPA increased the value of the Husband's PA to anywhere from \$910,281 to \$1,063,317 by adding in "goodwill" (R659,667).

#### WIFE'S CLAIMED EXPENSES FOR HERSELF AND DAUGHTER.

The Wife filed three affidavits. The one filed November, 1985 claimed expenses of \$7,550 a month (R743-44); the one filed January, 1987 claimed expenses of \$12,474 a month (R746-7); and the one filed April, 1987 claimed expenses of \$14,332 monthly (R750-1). Per these affidavits, the Wife claimed her expenses increased \$6,782 a month over a 1 1/2 year period (November, 1985 to April, 1987). An increase of \$6,782 a year would be very questionable. An increase of \$6,782 a month is totally unbelievable.

#### HUSBAND'S MONTHLY EXPENSES FOR HIMSELF AND CHILDREN.

The Husband's financial affidavit lists expenses of \$2,425 as housing and related expenses for his townhouse (R646), \$375 a month for food and household items, \$1,370 a month for other

personal expenses (R471)<sup>11</sup>, and \$242 a month for insurance, for total personal monthly expenses of \$4,412 a month. He additionally paid \$2,766 a month for the children's school expenses<sup>12</sup>.

### THE HUSBAND'S INCOME HISTORY AND THE PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING PRIOR TO THEIR SEPARATION.

The parties were married in 1962 when they were in college. The Husband graduated from law school in 1967 (R531). From 1967 to 1971 he was in the service (R87-8). From 1971 to 1976 he was with a defense firm in Fort Lauderdale. He began working there making \$14,000 a year and left there making \$75,000 a year (R535). The Husband next went with a small plaintiff's law firm for several years making about \$75,000 a year (R535).

In 1978 the Husband opened his own law office specializing in personal injury and medical malpractice work (R231). The first year he made over \$100,000 was in 1980 (R227-8). In 1981 the Husband made \$120,000, in 1982 he made \$130,000, and in 1983 he made \$127,500 (R673). For those three years the Husband

 $<sup>^{11}/\</sup>text{The}$  \$1,370 figure excludes the \$6,000 listed as monthly alimony payments and the \$2,000 listed as legal fees. (See Husband's financial affidavit, R471).

<sup>12/</sup>The parties' son is attending law school and his expenses were entirely paid for by the Husband (R107). While the Husband might have no legal obligation to pay for the son's law school education, he was in fact doing so, thus increasing his monthly expenses by that amount.

consistently made about \$2,000 to \$2,500 a week (R225-6). The parties lived nicely, but they were far from wealthy (R225-6).

The parties separated in May, 1983 (R77). Subsequently, the Husband had several extraordinary income years because of several large recoveries in plaintiff's cases. In 1984, he made \$385,919 after taxes, and in 1985 he netted \$551,273 after taxes (R673). But in the P.A.'s 1986 fiscal year, his income dropped back to the range it was previously and he only netted \$94,000 (R673). The Wife's expert CPA guestimated that the Husband's income for the first quarter of 1987 would be \$460,622 (gross), which was primarily the result of one large case (R51). In fact, at the time of the final hearing in April, 1987, the Husband was only drawing \$3,000 a month as salary because he did not know what the balance of the year would bring (R353). The large fee was being used to run the firm, advance costs, etc.

The Husband testified that during his two "extraordinary" years, he had used a large portion of the P.A.'s income to advance costs in more plaintiff's cases in order to stay competitive in the plaintiff's industry (R237-8). A "plaintiff's lawyer" has to be financially able to advance costs up front in order to maintain a plaintiff's practice. The Husband's testimony was borne out by the fact that the P.A. records indicated the P.A. was carrying \$477,000 on the books as costs advanced (R356). The Husband testified that at least one-third of that would not be recovered (R358).

The testimony of Al Cone, a plaintiff's lawyer in an old, established West Palm Beach plaintiff's law firm testified that he had been in the plaintiff's business since 1958; that a income varies so tremendously, it plaintiff lawyer's impossible to predict, and for a sole practitioner it is even worse (R276); that the future income of an individual plaintiff's lawyer has much less regularity than a large firm, where the bad year of one lawyer can be offset by the good year of the firm's other lawyers (R275). Moreover, a sole practitioner may have 2 or 3 cases that look good with a lot of costs invested, and those cases might not materialize, or they might get appealed (R275-6). Because of this, a plaintiff's law firm absolutely must have working capital on hand because plaintiff's attorneys must advance costs in other cases in order to prepare them (R276). addition, Cone discussed the fact that tort reform, and the assault on the tort system by doctors and the insurance industry, had made it increasingly difficult for plaintiff's lawyers (R272). In his opinion the future of a plaintiff lawyer's income was speculative at best (R274).

#### HUSBAND'S PRESENT ABILITY TO PAY.

At the time of trial, the Husband was paying himself \$3,000 a week gross or \$156,000 a year gross. In addition, \$38,784 of his yearly expenses (accepting the Wife's figures) were paid by his P.A. for such things as insurance, his automobile and its expenses, and club dues (R243,245,663). From the Husband's income he was paying the Wife \$6,000 a month, plus

paying other expenses which she claimed totalled another \$3,000 a month (R346-50). The Wife was receiving \$108,000 a year tax free and that Husband was living on \$86,784 a year, before taxes.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where a professional association's goodwill is dependent upon the personal skill, effort, reputation and continued presence of the husband, the professional association's goodwill is not a distinct asset to be considered upon divorce. Personal goodwill represents nothing more than future earning capacity, to be considered in determining alimony, but not marital assets. Here, any goodwill the Husband's PA had was personal to him, and should not have been considered in determining the value of the in determining PA. Considering goodwill (future earnings) determining alimony constitutes marital assets and in impermissible double dipping.

The distribution of marital assets to the Wife was excessive and could only have been the result of attributing goodwill to the Husband's law firm, which was awarded to him. If the law firm's book value is considered, the Wife received \$643,450 in Husband received \$239,695 in assets. assets, whereas the according to the Wife's own figures. That award was grossly The Wife received close to 75% of the parties' assets. The only way to justify this inequitable split was to attribute a value of \$900,000 to one million dollars to the Husband's PA by factoring in goodwill, which was error.

The \$250,000 lump sum alimony award was error. At best, only a \$50,000 lump sum alimony award should have been made. There should have been an equal division of the marital assets, plus a reasonable alimony award, rather than the excessive award of \$11,000 a month. The Wife only needs \$6,606 a month. Additionally, the Husband never made more than \$140,000 a year when the parties were living together. An alimony award of \$11,000 a month is not in keeping with the standard of living established during this marriage. When the Husband did have his few extraordinary years of income, he voluntarily paid the Wife \$432,000 in tax free income. A "need" cannot be established by these voluntary payments from extraordinary, rather than normal, years.

The Husband should not be made to pay the Wife attorney's fees and costs in light of the other awards.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

IN MARRIAGE DISSOLUTION PROCEEDINGS TO WHICH AN OWNER OF A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION IS A PARTY, MAY THE VALUE OF THE PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION'S GOODWILL BE FACTORED IN IN DETERMINING THE PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION'S VALUE?

There are three Florida cases on this issue. VIRGIN v. SLATKO, 358 So.2d 1178 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) involved an accounting in a partnership dispute. The Third District Court of Appeal stated that:

... As a general proposition, a business dependent solely upon the personal and professional qualifications of the persons carrying it on does not possess "goodwill".

The Third District later considered goodwill in a divorce context. In MOEBUS v. MOEBUS, 529 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), the court found that there was a divergency of opinion in other states as to whether goodwill should be considered an asset for purposes of dissolution of marriage. The court concluded that the better view was that goodwill could not be considered. The court quoted from HOLBROOK v. HOLBROOK, 309 N.W. 2d 343 (Ct. App. 1981), which had involved a husband's law practice, as follows:

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