IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

Case No. 74,419

WILLIAM deFOREST THOMPSON,

Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

TOBITHA THOMPSON,

Respondent/Appellee.

26 1 FF ERK, SUPREME By Dechty Clerk

0,90

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

LAW OFFICES OF RONALD SALES, P.A. 1551 Forum Place Suite 300F P. O. Box 3107 West Palm Beach, FL 33402 (407) 659-5455 and JANE KREUSLER-WALSH KLEIN, DERANEK & WALSH, P.A. 501 South Flagler Drive Suite 503 - Flagler Center West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH

KLEN WALSH, P. A. TELEPHONE (407) 659-5455 WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33401

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

Marital property encompasses those assets which have been created by the parties' work efforts, services, or earnings. <u>Turner v. Turner</u> 529 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); <u>Wright v.</u> <u>Wright</u>, 505 So.2d 699 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987). The essential criterion is whether a right to the benefit or asset has accrued during the marriage. <u>Buttner v. Buttner</u>, 484 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), <u>rev. denied</u>, 494 So.2d 1149 (Fla. 1986). The prevailing view among the majority of jurisdictions that have considered the issue is that the goodwill of a professional practice is a marital asset,

subject to evaluation, which should be considered in a divorce proceeding.

The following list illustrates that the majority of jurisdictions which have considered the issue hold that the goodwill of a professional practice is an asset with a calculable value, available for distribution in marriage dissolution proceedings:

Hunt v. Hunt, 698 P.2d 1168 (Ak. 1985) <u>Mitchell v. Mitchell</u>, 732 P.2d 208 (Ariz. 1987) Fenton v. Fenton, 184 Cal. Rptr. 597, 134 Cal. App.3d 451 (Cal.App. 1st Dist. 1982) Wright v. Wright, 469 A.2d 803 (Del.Fam.Ct. 1983) In re Marriage of Rubinstein, 145 Ill.App.3d 31, 495 N.E.2d 659 (Ill.App. 2d Dist. 1986) <u>Heller v. Heller</u>, 672 S.W.2d 945 (Ky.App. 1984) Kowalesky v. Kowalesky, 148 Mich.App. 151, 384 N.W.2d 112 (1986)Roth v. Roth, 406 N.W.2d 77 (Minn.App. 1987) In re Marriage of Hull, 219 Mont. 480, 712 P.2d 1317 (1986)Dugan v. Dugan, 92 N.J. 423, 457 A.2d 1 (1983) Stern v. Stern, 66 N.J. 340, 331 A.2d 257 (1975) <u>Mitchell v. Mitchell</u>, 104 N.M. 205, 719 P.2d 432 (1986), cert. denied, 104 N.M. 84, 717 P.2d 60 (1986) Hertz v. Hertz, 99 N.M. 320, 657 P.2d 1169 (1983) <u>Nehorayoff v. Nehorayoff</u>, 108 Misc.2d 311, 437 N.Y.S.2d 584 (1981) Poore v. Poore, 75 N.C.App. 543, 331 S.E.2d 266 (1985), rev. denied, 314 N.C. 543, 335 S.E.2d 316 (1985) Jondahl v. Jondahl, 344 N.W.2d 63 (N.D. 1984) Matter of Marriage of Reiling, 66 Or.App. 284, 673 P.2d 1360 (1983), rev. denied, 296 Or. 536, 678 P.2d 738 (1984) Casey v. Casey, 289 S.C. 462, 346 S.E.2d 726 (S.C.App. 1986), cert. granted in part, 291 S.C. 284, 353 S.E.2d 287 (1987)Fait v. Fait, 345 N.W.2d 872 (S.D. 1984) Geesbreght v. Geesbreght, 570 S.W.2d 427 (Tex.Civ.App. 2d Dist. 1978) Sorensen v. Sorensen, 769 P.2d 820 (Utah 1989) Hall v. Hall, 103 Wash.2d 236, 692 P.2d 175 (1984)

<u>In re Marriage of Lukens</u>, 16 Wash.App. 481, 558 P.2d 279 (1976)

The following jurisdictions hold that goodwill should be considered on a case by case basis, with determination depending upon whether it is salable or marketable:

<u>Antolick v. Harvey</u>, 761 P.2d 305 (Ha.App. 1988) <u>Prahinski v. Prahinski</u>, 75 Md.App. 113, 540 A.2d 833 (1988), <u>cert. granted</u>, 313 Md. 572, 546 A.2d 490 (1988) <u>Hanson v. Hanson</u>, 738 S.W.2d 429 (Mo. 1087) <u>Taylor v. Taylor</u>, 222 Neb. 721, 386 N.W.2d 851 (1986)

The following jurisdictions have refused to consider the goodwill of a professional practice for any purpose in marriage dissolution proceedings:

In re Marriage of Nichols, 43 Colo.App. 383, 606 P.2d 1314 (1979) Moebus v. Moebus, 529 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), rev. denied, 539 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1989) Powell v. Powell, 231 Kan. 456, 648 P.2d 218 (1982) Depner v. Depner, 478 So.2d 532 (La.1st Cir. 1985), cert. denied, 480 So.2d 744 (La. 1986) Carter v. Carter, 616 S.W.2d 543 (Mo.App. 1981) DeMasi v. DeMasi, 530 A.2d 871 (Pa. 1987) Smith v. Smith, 709 S.W.2d 588 (Tenn.App. 1985) Nail v. Nail, 486 S.W.2d 761 (Tex. 1972) Holbrook v. Holbrook, 103 Wis.2d 327, 309 N.W.2d 343 (1981)

The husband claims that there are three Florida cases on goodwill and ignores the most recent statement from this Court, <u>Swann v. Mitchell</u>, 435 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1983). While <u>Swann</u> involved a car dealership and not a professional association dependent upon the personal services of the person involved, the holding and

rationale are applicable here. <u>Swann</u> held that the goodwill of a professional practice should be considered in valuing that practice. In so holding, this Court stated as follows on page 800 of the opinion:

[T]he goodwill of a law firm has been held to be an improper subject of a sale, for ethical reasons, yet subject to evaluation as a valuable asset of the firm for other purposes. <u>Geffen v. Moss</u>, 53 Cal.App.3d 215, 125 Cal.Rptr. 687 (1975); <u>Stern v. Stern</u>, 66 N.J. 340, 331 A.2d 257 (1975). The goodwill of a professional practice has been held to be community property subject to division in a marriage dissolution proceeding. <u>Re Marriage of Lukens</u>, 16 Wash.App. 481, 558 P.2d 279 (1976).

By selecting <u>Stern v. Stern</u>, 66 N.J. 340, 331 A.2d 257 (1979) and <u>In re Marriage of Lukens</u>, 16 Wash.App. 481, 558 P.2d 279 (1976), as supporting cases in <u>Swann v. Mitchell</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court applied its holding to a range of professions, including law firms, in various situations, including marriage dissolution proceedings.

In <u>Stern v. Stern</u>, <u>supra</u>, the New Jersey Supreme Court recognized that while the personal earning capacity of a lawyer is not a marital asset, his partnership interest in the law firm is. The value of that partnership asset includes capital accounts, accounts receivable, work in progress, appreciation and worth of tangible personalty above book value and goodwill, with the total diminished by accounts payable and other liabilities. <u>Stern</u> recognized that while the goodwill of a law firm cannot be sold

for ethical reasons, it does exist and is a real element of economic worth.

In re Marriage of Lukens, supra, involved a solely held medical practice. <u>Lukens</u> recognized that goodwill is an asset subject to division in a marriage dissolution proceeding and is not the equivalent of a spouse's expectation of future earnings.

The husband attempts to distinguish <u>Swann</u> on the basis that <u>Swann</u> involved a business with goodwill that was separate from its partner while the goodwill of the husband's law firm is inseparable from the husband. This argument misses the point. There are significant and distinctive differences between the goodwill of a professional practice and a professional degree. Unlike a professional degree, goodwill is a "property right." It is a separate and distinct asset, not merely a factor contributing to the earning capacity of the practitioner.

As the Arizona Supreme Court recognized in <u>Mitchell v.</u> <u>Mitchell</u>, 152 Ariz. 317, 732 P.2d 208 (1987), the best analogy is to pension rights which are also marital property. Both are property rights acquired during the marriage, although their enjoyment and benefits are deferred. Like pension rights, a professional spouse's goodwill, to the extent acquired during the marriage, is a product of marital teamwork and reflects an appreciation of the non-professional spouse's contribution,

indirect though it may be, to the professional spouse's economic success. <u>Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer</u>, 491 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1986).

In <u>Moebus v. Moebus</u>, 529 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 539 So.2d 475 (Fla. 1989), the Third District held that the goodwill of a professional practice should not be considered in marriage dissolution proceedings. The Third District based its opinion upon a Wisconsin case, <u>Holbrook v. Holbrook</u>, 103 Wis.2d 327, 309 N.W.2d 343 (1981), which the majority of states that have considered the question have refused to follow. <u>Holbrook</u> refused to allow consideration of goodwill because, "the 'asset' involved is not salable and has computable value to the individual only to the extent that it promises increased future earnings." <u>Holbrook</u> <u>V. Holbrook</u>, <u>supra</u>, 355. Although the goodwill of a professional practice is not readily salable, the important consideration is not whether the goodwill can be sold without the personal services of the professional, but whether it has value to him.

Goodwill is not equivalent to a spouse's expectation of future earnings and is properly valued when based on past earnings. <u>See</u> <u>In re Marriage of Lukens, supra; Poore v. Poore, supra</u>. Goodwill must be distinguished from future earning capacity and is not synonymous with future earning capacity. The value of goodwill frequently remains after a partner's death, resignation, or disability. Otherwise, why would the popular practice of retaining names of deceased or withdrawn members exist? When a professional

dies or retires, so does his or her earning capacity, but the goodwill that attached to the practice may continue in the form of established clients, referrals, trade name, location, and association. This Court recognized in <u>Swann v. Mitchell</u>, <u>supra</u>, that goodwill may be subject to evaluation as an asset even though it is not salable. The <u>Holbrook</u> approach ignores the probability that goodwill as a business asset can be separate and distinct from reputation and thus valuable as intangible property.

One frequently reads about lawyers who are "rainmakers." They produce clients whose work can be performed by other lawyers who are not rainmakers. A rainmaker can earn a high income without doing the day-to-day legal work. If the husband, who has been averaging approximately \$600,000 a year in earnings, decides to stop doing day-to-day lawyer work and turn that over to his employee lawyers, he will still be able to earn a substantial living by merely attracting clients. Even if it is not ethically salable, it is a fact of life that it is worth a lot of money, and it was accumulated during the marriage. To hold there is no goodwill here is to ignore reality.

The Washington Supreme Court addressed this issue in <u>In re</u> <u>Marriage of Hall</u>, 103 Wash.2d 236, 692 P.2d 175 (1984), holding as follows on page 178 of the opinion:

> Goodwill is a property or asset which usually supplements the earning capacity of another asset, a business or a profession. Goodwill is not the earning capacity itself.

It is a distinct asset of a professional practice not just a factor contributing to the value or earning capacity of the practice. ... Discontinuance of the business or profession may greatly diminish the value of the goodwill but it does not destroy its existence. When a professional retires or dies, his earning capacity also either retires or dies. Nevertheless, the goodwill that once attached to his practice may continue in existence in the form of established patients or clients, referrals, trade location name, and associations which now attach to former partners or buyers of the practice. . . . Reference to Judge Reed's example in Lukens, 16 Wash.App. at 485, 555 P.2d 279 illustrates the difference in that a professional can transport all of his skill (earning capacity) to a new town, but patients or clients, reputation and referrals (goodwill) cannot always be transported.

The New Jersey Supreme Court further defined the issue in <u>Dugan v.</u> <u>Dugan</u>, 92 N.J. 423, 457 A.2d 1 (1983), stating on page 6 of the opinion:

> ... Future earning capacity per se is not goodwill. However, when that future earning capacity has been enhanced because reputation leads to probable future patronage from existing and potential clients, goodwill may exist and have value. When that occurs the resulting goodwill is property subject to equitable distribution. ...

> When, however, the opportunity provided by the license is exercised, then goodwill may come into existence. Goodwill is to be differentiated from earning capacity. It reflects not simply a possibility of future earnings, but a probability based on existing circumstances. Enhanced earnings reflected in goodwill are to be distinguished from a license to practice a profession and an educational degree. In that situation the enhanced future earnings are so remote and speculative that the license and degree have not been deemed to be property. The possibility of additional earnings is to be distinguished from the existence of goodwill in a law practice and the

probability of its continuation. (Emphasis added).

As these cases indicate, goodwill is not a projection of increased future earnings. It would be inequitable to allow the form of the business enterprise to defeat a spouse's interest in the professional goodwill. Such a result ignores the contributions made by the non-professional spouse to the success of the professional, especially when the marriage spans as many years as this one. The wife of a professional makes the same contributions to the value of the goodwill as does any wife to her husband's earnings and accumulations during the marriage. She is as much entitled to be recompensed for that contribution as if it were represented by the increased value of stock in a family business. <u>Mitchell v. Mitchell, supra; Dugan v. Dugan, supra</u>.

Interestingly, while <u>Moebus v. Moebus</u>, <u>supra</u>, is the Florida case which most directly deals with the issue of goodwill in a marital dissolution proceeding, the Fourth District Court of Appeal and this Court previously considered the issue in <u>Marcoux v.</u> <u>Marcoux</u>, 445 So.2d 711 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), <u>quashed and remanded</u>, 464 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1985), <u>appeal after remand</u>, 475 So.2d 972 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), and concluded differently. In its earlier <u>Marcoux</u> decision, the District Court indicated that although there had been no findings as to the value of the husband's small, closely-held, personal service corporation, the award indicated that the trial

court had determined that the corporation had substantial goodwill value. The District Court could not conclude that the business had no such value as a matter of law and affirmed, but certified a question concerning the scope of appellate review in light of <u>Conner v. Conner</u>, 439 So.2d 887 (Fla. 1983) and <u>Kuvin v. Kuvin</u>, 442 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1983). In reviewing the certified question, this Court recognized that the disagreement concerned whether the business had goodwill value. Affirmatively stating that it expressed no view on the merits, this court answered the certified question and remanded for reconsideration. On remand, the Fourth District held (475 at 972):

> ... Accordingly, the issue here is not whether the trial court abused its discretion in fashioning a remedy based on the facts as he found them, but whether he was correct in his determination of the facts. So long as there is evidence to support the trial court's finding, appellate courts cannot act as new fact finders in the stead of the trial judge. ...

Thus, both this Court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal have previously acknowledged that good will has a value which can increase the book value of a business.

While there are various approaches to valuing goodwill, each of the cases in the first category hold that it is an asset subject to equitable distribution. Like pension rights, goodwill is not easily valued, but the most preferable approach involves a reduction to present value. <u>Diffenderfer v. Diffenderfer, supra</u>. That is precisely what the wife's experts, Mary Plum and William Darbey, did here. Mrs. Plum used two approaches to value the husband's practice and Mr. Darbey used a third. Each method, according to the expert, is a standard in the profession and accepted in evaluating a law firm. Both Mrs. Plum's and Mr. Darbey's methods were based upon <u>past</u> results and not future earnings (R 2-21, 141-53).

This Court should align itself with those jurisdictions and hold that the goodwill of a professional practice has value which should be treated as property upon dissolution of marriage. To hold otherwise would ignore the contribution made by the nonprofessional spouse to the success of the professional.

POINT II

THE METHODS OF VALUATION USED BY THE WIFE'S EXPERTS WERE LEGALLY PROPER.

The husband has waived his right to contest the methods of evaluation used by the wife's experts. The husband produced no evidence at trial to contradict the approach of the wife's experts. On the other hand, both Mrs. Plum and Mr. Darbey testified that their methods comported with acceptable accounting methods. The husband had an opportunity to cross-examine these witnesses, challenge their findings, and produce experts to impeach them. He chose not to challenge their methodologies. He offered no experts of his own to impeach their approaches. In fact, the husband never

raised any problem with the accounting methods used by the wife's experts until this case reached the appellate level. As such, he waived his right to contest these methods.

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